
 

Note: We are conveying these findings and recommendations to the Office of Information Policy (OIP) 
as per FOIA Advisory Committee Recommendation No. 2020-01 that recommends OIP issue further 
"guidance on how agencies may improve online descriptions of the [FOIA] process." It is important to 
acknowledge that the review of each agency FOIA website reflects a snapshot in time, and FOIA 
programs may have updated their websites since the review. 
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What OGIS Found What OGIS Recommends 

Finding 1: Almost all agency FOIA websites 
OGIS visited have deficiencies in the 
information they include. (Recommendation 1) 

Finding 2: There are some data points that 
almost all agencies include; however, a slim 
minority of agency websites have deficiencies. 
(Recommendation 1) 

Finding 3: Agencies generally include ample 
information on their websites but finding it 
can often be difficult. (Recommendation 2) 

Recommendation 1: Agencies should address 
the deficiencies in the information they 
include about FOIA. 

Recommendation 2: Agencies should make 
finding information on websites easier. 

What OGIS Reviewed 

From January 2021 to April 2021, the Office of Government Information Services (OGIS) 
reviewed FOIA websites for all 15 Cabinet-level departments, including their components, and 
six independent agencies. For each site, OGIS reviewed the presence or absence of 25 criteria 
that reflect OIP guidance and FOIA Advisory Committee best practices for FOIA websites. 
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Executive Summary 
 
On July 9, 2020, the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) Advisory Committee 
recommended that the Office of Government Information Services (OGIS) at the National 
Archives and Records Administration (NARA) assess agency FOIA websites to 
determine the clarity and availability of information about filing a FOIA request. 
(Recommendation 2020-01) The Committee recommended this assessment with the 
express intent that it inform further guidance from the Department of Justice’s (DOJ) 
Office of Information Policy (OIP). 
 
Recommendation 2020-01 seeks to help create a more efficient FOIA process through 
improved websites that educate FOIA requesters, improve the quality of requests, and 
answer frequently asked questions, thereby reducing the burden on both agencies and 
requesters. FOIA websites can significantly further the goal of transparency in 
government; however, to fully leverage the potential effectiveness, agencies must create 
content and layout for their websites geared toward FOIA requesters, especially novice 
requesters.  
 
OGIS’s foundational work in complying with the Committee’s recommendation was its 
report Assessing FOIA Compliance through the 2019 NARA Records Management Self-
Assessment, published in March 2021.The assessment leveraged NARA's annual Records 
Management Self-Assessment (RMSA) to ask what types of information agencies include 
on their FOIA websites about requesting records. 
 
OGIS built on the data from the RMSA by reviewing information on FOIA websites. 
OGIS found that FOIA websites across the government have significant room for 
improvement in two areas: complete instructions for—and comprehensive information 
about—filing a FOIA request; and layout and ease-of-navigation. We recommend that 
agencies should address the deficiencies in the information they include, and that agencies 
should make finding information on websites easier. 
 
Finally, many of the deficiencies could be remedied by implementing recommendations 
made by the 2020-2022 term of the FOIA Advisory Committee. Specifically, in 
Recommendation 2022-07, the Committee lists 16 elements that agencies should include 
on their FOIA websites, including links to descriptions of the records maintained by the 
agency and those that do not exist at the agency; agency records schedules; a FOIA 
request submission form; and contact information for agency FOIA personnel.  

https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-final-report-and-recs-2020-07-09.pdf#page=8
https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-final-report-and-recs-2020-07-09.pdf#page=8
https://www.archives.gov/ogis/foia-compliance-program/agency-self-assessments/2019-rmsa
https://www.archives.gov/ogis/foia-compliance-program/agency-self-assessments/2019-rmsa
https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-final-report-and-recs-2022-07-05.pdf#page=16
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Background 
On July 9, 2020, the FOIA Advisory Committee submitted 22 recommendations for 
government-wide improvements for the implementation of FOIA to the Archivist of the 
United States.1 Recommendation 2020-01 was among several intended to enhance online 
access and applied to NARA, OGIS, OIP, as well as other federal agencies. 
 

We recommend that [OGIS] undertake an assessment of the information 
agencies make publicly available on their FOIA websites to facilitate the 
FOIA filing process and for the purpose of informing further guidance by 
[OIP] on how agencies may improve online descriptions of the process.  
 

This recommendation comports with the two offices' respective roles. OGIS, as the 
federal FOIA Ombudsman, reviews FOIA policies, procedures, and compliance, and 
identifies procedures and methods for improving FOIA compliance. OIP, as part of its 
responsibilities to encourage agency compliance with FOIA, provides FOIA guidance to 
federal agencies, including 10 basic recommendations for agency websites.2 The Attorney 
General issued updated FOIA guidelines via a Memorandum for Heads of Executive 
Departments and Agencies in March 2022 stressing the “importance of improving the 
organization and presentation of disclosed materials [as] a core part of our efforts to 
efficiently provide government records to the public.”3 The Memorandum also noted that 
“FOIA websites should be easily navigable, and records should be presented in the most 
useful, searchable, and open formats possible.” 
 
The FOIA Advisory Committee made its recommendation in 2020 regarding FOIA 
websites to foster efficiencies in the FOIA process, commenting in its final report: 
 

The number of FOIA requests filed annually across all agencies has generally 
increased every year during the past decade ... with only a slight drop … in FY 
2019. Requests are expected to continue to increase [and] agency resources have 
largely remained stagnant during that time.… The FOIA Advisory Committee’s 
Time/Volume Subcommittee conducted voluntary surveys of FOIA officers and 

 
1 Freedom of Information Act Federal Advisory Committee, 2018-2020 Committee Term Final 
Report and Recommendations, https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-final-report-and-
recs-2020-07-09.pdf and included in the appendix of this report. 
 
2 See https://www.justice.gov/oip/foia-resources/foia-self-assessment-toolkit/download, pp. 64-68. 
  
3 See Part C Paragraph 2,  “U.S. Attorney General Memo to Heads of Executive Departments and 
Agencies RE: Freedom of Information Act Guidelines,”  
https://www.justice.gov/ag/page/file/1483516/download. 
  

https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-final-report-and-recs-2020-07-09.pdf#page=8
https://www.justice.gov/ag/page/file/1483516/download
https://www.justice.gov/ag/page/file/1483516/download
https://www.justice.gov/ag/page/file/1483516/download
https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-final-report-and-recs-2020-07-09.pdf#page=8
https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-final-report-and-recs-2020-07-09.pdf
https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-final-report-and-recs-2020-07-09.pdf
https://www.justice.gov/oip/foia-resources/foia-self-assessment-toolkit/download
https://www.justice.gov/ag/page/file/1483516/download
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requesters [finding that] more than half of all FOIA officers who responded said 
that agency capacity to handle FOIA requests is the single greatest impediment 
within the agency’s control to processing FOIA requests on time. [The] FOIA 
requester community indicated a willingness by requesters to modify their 
requests if given better tools to do so … e.g., clear instructions on how the 
public can simplify their requests (emphasis added).4 

 
Indeed, OGIS has observed that an effective website serves to educate FOIA requesters, 
improves the quality of requests, and preempts questions, thereby reducing the 
administrative burden on the agency. It is in the best interest of agency FOIA offices to 
focus resources on website design and layout to efficiently leverage their limited funding. 
Despite the efficiencies that well-designed websites could bring, the FOIA Advisory 
Committee found in its recommendations to the Archivist that “in many instances FOIA 
information on agency websites remains incomplete, inconsistent, and out of date.”5 
  
OGIS’s Assessing FOIA Compliance through the 2019 NARA Records Management Self-
Assessment (conducted in 2020 and published after a pandemic delay in March 2021) 
follows the Committee's recommendation to assess information on FOIA websites. 
Specifically, it reported on a question federal agencies were asked as part of the RMSA 
for calendar year 2019:6  

 
Q27. Which of the following does your agency/component have 
available on its FOIA website for requesting records? (Choose all that 
apply)  

 
4 See page 9 “Freedom of Information Act Federal Advisory Committee, 2018-2020 Committee 
Term Final Report and Recommendations” https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-
final-report-and-recs-2020-07-09.pdf.  
  
5 Id. 
 
6 NARA administered the RMSA  for calendar year 2019 to agency records officers from January 
13, 2020, to May 15, 2020. 

https://www.archives.gov/ogis/foia-compliance-program/agency-self-assessments/2019-rmsa
https://www.archives.gov/ogis/foia-compliance-program/agency-self-assessments/2019-rmsa
https://www.archives.gov/ogis/foia-compliance-program/agency-self-assessments/2019-rmsa
https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-final-report-and-recs-2020-07-09.pdf
https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-final-report-and-recs-2020-07-09.pdf
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Figure 1: Totals add up to greater than 100% because respondents could select more than one response. (The 
total number of responses to this question was 485, with 247 agencies responding.) 
 
Building on these results, OGIS reviewed information on 158 FOIA websites, as 
described below. This report is the product of that research. 
 

Methodology 
In conjunction with the comments that the 2018-2020 term of the FOIA Advisory 
Committee provided on Recommendation 2020-01, OGIS used the responses to the 2019 
RMSA Q27 as a baseline to identify measurement criteria for agency FOIA websites. 
There were 25 data points against which OGIS measured each website. OGIS developed 
the data points (see Appendix A for complete list) from the FOIA statute, OIP guidance, 
and FOIA Advisory Committee best practices for publishing on websites information to 
facilitate FOIA requesting.  
 
OGIS reviewed the websites for all 15 Cabinet-level departments, their component 
agencies, and six independent agencies7 that together received 93 percent of FOIA 
requests governmentwide in FY19, the most recent data available at the time of the 

 
7 See Appendix B for complete list 
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review.8 (In FY21, those agencies received 97 percent of FOIA requests 
governmentwide.)  
 
OGIS reviewed the websites between January 2021 and April 2021. As OGIS reviewed 
each website, the presence or absence of each criterion was noted. This data demonstrated 
the extent to which agencies follow OIP guidance and FOIA Advisory Committee best 
practices for publishing particular information on their websites. At a minimum, FOIA 
websites should include contact information, FOIA request instructions, definitions of key 
terms, and a FOIA library.  
 
OGIS reviewed each agency FOIA website to determine the presence or absence of 25 
data points, pertaining to various aspects of the FOIA administrative process and records 
management, as well as contact information for agency FOIA personnel. 
 
Note: It is important to acknowledge that the review of each agency FOIA website 
reflects a snapshot in time, and FOIA programs may have updated their websites since the 
review. For the websites mentioned in the next section (Department of Treasury's Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS), Department of State, and Department of Defense's (DoD) 
Education Agency), OGIS conducted a follow-up review in July 2022. The websites 
continue to demonstrate the strengths mentioned below.  

Findings 
 
Three overall themes emerged while evaluating the websites.  
 

● First, under the criteria used for the analysis, almost all agency FOIA websites had 
some deficiencies in the information they included.  

● There are some data points that almost all agencies include; however a slim 
minority of agency websites have deficiencies.  

● While most agencies included ample information on their websites, finding 
specific information was often difficult. It appeared that some FOIA websites are 
designed for savvy rather than novice FOIA requesters, and information was not 
arranged to make it easily accessible to the general public who may not have any 
experience with the FOIA process.  

 

 
8 In FY19, the six independent agencies with the most FOIA requests received between  
8,869 and 67,466 requests.  In contrast, the agency with the seventh highest number received 
2,972 requests.  
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Finding 1: Almost all agency FOIA websites OGIS reviewed had deficiencies in the 
information they include.  

At the time of our review, no agency website contained a completely comprehensive and 
up-to-date list of everything needed to file a FOIA request. On almost every website, 
information needed to be added or updated to give novice FOIA requesters a step-by-step 
guide on requirements for filing. For example, the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Alcohol 
and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau (TTB) webpage could be improved if it explained the 
role of the FOIA Public Liaison (FPL) on its site instead of linking to the “Freedom of 
Information Act, 5 U.S.C. Sec. 552.” A description on the agency’s FOIA website would 
help users understand the role of the FPL without referring them to the statutory language. 
 
Some websites included a majority of the criteria that OGIS measured. For example, the 
FOIA website for the Department of the Treasury’s Internal Revenue Service (IRS) met 
nearly all of the 25 criteria. It lacked only two criteria: a definition of “simple and 
complex” requests (column V) and the average processing times broken down by simple 
and complex requests (column W). Based on our review, a website that met nearly all 
criteria was the exception. 
 
Even websites that provided most of the expected information still have room for 
improvement. The Department of State’s FOIA website, like the IRS’s, contains most of 
the information a user would need. However, it did not include a date when the electronic 
reading room was last updated (column H), nor did it provide average processing times, 
including for simple and complex requests (column W). In addition, a couple of the 
expected pieces of information were present but not clear for people unfamiliar with 
FOIA. These included unclear definitions for “simple” and “complex” requests (column 
V), and a lack of description of the types of requests that the agency would consider 
overly burdensome or not sufficiently specific (column Y). 
 
In certain cases, an agency FOIA website excelled in one category, but fell short in others. 
For example, the Department of Defense (DoD) Education Agency’s FOIA website 
interface was easy to navigate. It had a prominent horizontal menu bar with tabs “How to 
File a FOIA Request?,” “How to File a FOIA Appeal?,” “FOIA Library,” “Letter 
Templates & Forms,” “Handbook & Regulations,” and “How to File a Privacy Act (PA) 
Request?” This is a best practice in website design because viewers do not have to scroll 
down to view important navigation elements. Most users find it easier to read horizontal 
lines rather than vertical lines of text, and a horizontal menu bar generally makes the 
website easier to navigate. On the other hand, the DoD’s Education Agency website did 
not explain what the FOIA is in a high-level introductory paragraph. Rather, it began by 
presenting specific information with no context for the user. 
 

https://www.irs.gov/privacy-disclosure/irs-freedom-of-information
https://foia.state.gov/
https://www.dodea.edu/Offices/ExecutiveServices/foia.cfm
https://www.dodea.edu/Offices/ExecutiveServices/foia.cfm
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Additionally, there were some criteria for which most agency websites did not include 
specific FOIA information.  For example, many websites did not: 
 

● directly link to a FOIA request submission form (Column K) 
● clearly define “simple” and “complex” requests (Column V) 
● provide average processing times (Column W) 
● describe or link to a description of the types of requests that would be considered 

overly burdensome by the agency or not sufficiently specific (Column Y) 
● post agency FOIA logs to its FOIA website and/or FOIA Library/Reading Room 

(Column AC) 
● describe or link to agency records schedules (Column AE) 

 
 Directly link to a FOIA request submission form

  
Figure 2: “Does the FOIA website directly link to a FOIA request submission form?” 
 
Almost half of the websites (45.2 percent) do not link to a form, while more than the 43.3 
percent of websites do link to such a form. Eighteen websites (11.5 percent) fell into the 
“other” category. The most common reason for the “other” category was that the website 
link refers the user to foia.gov, and to a lesser extent, foiaonline.gov,9 which have online 
forms. Very rarely are there direct links to agency-created forms. In some cases, a 
requester needs to download the form, fill it out, and either email or print and mail it. In 
one instance, the form was inconspicuously buried in the footer. On another website, the 
form was found in the electronic reading room instead of in an intuitive place. A few of 
the websites had broken links to the form or the user was directed to an error page.  

 
9 The FOIAonline.gov service will be retired by the end of December 2023. Each agency that 
currently uses FOIAonline is responsible for finding a replacement.  

https://www.foia.gov/
https://foiaonline.gov/foiaonline/action/public/home
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Clearly define 'simple' and 'complex' requests 

 
Figure 3: “Does the FOIA website clearly define 'simple' and 'complex' requests?” 
 
There are a few reasons for a website to be categorized as “other.” Sometimes clear 
definitions of simple and complex requests are technically included but functionally 
hidden: for example, found within annual reports stored in an electronic reading room or 
in an agency’s FOIA regulations. It is especially unhelpful when the website does not 
even direct users to these definitions. In other instances, one term is defined but not the 
other.  
 
Some agencies, instead of using the terms “simple” and “complex,” use alternate 
terminology.  The Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), for example, uses the terms 
“small,” “medium,” “large” and “extra large” for its processing tracks based on the 
number of pages responsive to the request.10 The FBI FOIA website explains that it uses 
page count thresholds to route requests into each track, that requests encompassing a high 
volume of responsive records will take a longer time to process, and that for “large” and 
“extra large” requests the FBI will contact the requester in an effort to narrow the request 
in order to potentially reduce fees and processing time. 
 
On other agency FOIA websites, a definition is implied without clearly spelling out the 
terms.      
 
 
 

 
10 Subsequent to our initial review, the FBI created an “extra large” track for requests with 5,000 or more 
responsive pages. 
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Provide average processing times 

 
 
Figure 4: “Does the FOIA website provide, in a prominent place, the average processing times for requests, 
including for simple and complex requests?” 
 
Few websites provide average processing times (including for “simple” and “complex” 
requests) in a prominent place. Sometimes an FAQ section will have the information 
under a “how long will it take to process my request?” type of heading.  



-11- 

Describe or link to a description of the types of requests that would be considered 
overly burdensome or not sufficiently specific 

 
Figure 5: “Does the FOIA website provide, in a prominent place, the average processing times for requests, 
including for simple and complex requests?” 
 
Websites often were categorized under “Other” because they included a link to the U.S. 
Department of Justice Guide to the FOIA and indicated that users could look there for 
descriptions of 'overly burdensome' or 'not sufficiently specific.' 
 
Also falling into “Other” was one instance in which the navigation to a system to look up 
logs required explanation. In other cases, an “access denied” page came up or the link was 
broken. Sometimes there was no reading room. 
  

https://www.justice.gov/oip/doj-guide-freedom-information-act-0
https://www.justice.gov/oip/doj-guide-freedom-information-act-0
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Description of Agency Records Schedules 

 
Figure 6: “Does the FOIA website describe or link to agency records schedules?” 
 
In the case of “Other,” sometimes the navigation needed clarification. Other times there 
were no direct links, requiring the user to search for a Records Management Page to find 
the information. This is not helpful for casual users who do not have the context to know 
to search for this information. Other issues found in OGIS’s review range from 
information included only within the language of a directive to broken links to 
information on external websites. 

Finding 2: There are some data points that almost all agencies include; however a 
slim minority of agency websites have deficiencies. 

Certain types of FOIA information are overwhelmingly present across all agency FOIA 
websites. For those criteria, only a slim minority of agency websites have deficiencies.   
As the data below indicate, a vast majority of agencies: 

● provide instructions on how to file a FOIA request 
● host electronic reading rooms 
● make contact information available for FOIA Office(s) 
● include accessibility statements 

How to make a FOIA Request 

The vast majority of websites (92.4 percent) include instructions to the public on how to 
make a FOIA request. Usually, instructions take the form of a dedicated link, some 
paragraphs, or a handbook. Ten websites (6.4 percent) are classified as “other.” The most 
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common reason is minimal instructions, such as not providing contact information for 
submission of requests. Other times the navigation to instructions is indirect (taking 
multiple clicks), usually to a parent department’s FOIA handbook. Many FOIA websites 
rely heavily on general FOIA resources (see www.foia.gov). In a few instances, the link 
to instructions is broken. 

FOIA Reading Room 

Over 85 percent of agency FOIA websites have an online FOIA library. Often, the 
electronic reading room goes by another name, such as “FOIA Reading Room,” “E-
Library,” “Frequently-Requested Documents,” etc. For the 12.1 percent of websites that 
were categorized as  “other,” the most common reason was that there was no dedicated 
reading room page, but the websites included many of the types of records one would find 
in a reading room (such as annual reports). A small number of websites, 2.5 percent of the 
total, either had a missing link, a broken link, or an “access denied” error. 

Contact Information 

Of the 158 agency FOIA websites OGIS reviewed, 97.5 percent included contact 
information for the FOIA office. Only 2.5 percent failed to provide contact information 
for the FOIA office. Contact information included names, emails, physical addresses, 
telephone numbers, and/or fax numbers.  

Accessibility Statement 

Most agency FOIA websites included an accessibility statement or Section 508 page that 
individuals with disabilities can use if they encounter inaccessible documents. OGIS 
found that 7.6 percent of sites included the statement at the top of the page, while 86.6 
percent placed the link in the website footer. Only 5.7 percent of websites did not have an 
accessibility statement. 

Other Exemplary Practices 

Certain agency FOIA websites were notable in other ways. The website for the 
Administration for Children and Families at the Department of Health and Human 
Services not only described records that are available through FOIA, but also which 
records are not.11 This additional context potentially reduces unnecessary requests 
contributing to backlogs. The U.S. Department of Agriculture’s Rural Development 
Agency included a prominent link on its website to a Certificate of Identity form (DOJ 
Form 361), with a thorough explanation of why the form is necessary for requests that 
seek records containing information about oneself in order to release that information to 
third parties.  

 
11 See What information is not available under the FOIA? and FOIA Exemptions & Exclusions.  

http://www.foia.gov/
https://www.justice.gov/ust/file/doj361_form.pdf/download
https://www.justice.gov/ust/file/doj361_form.pdf/download
https://www.hhs.gov/foia/faqs/what-information-is-not-available-under-the-foia/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/foia/exemptions-and-exclusions/index.html
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Finding 3: Agencies generally include ample information on their websites but 
finding it can be difficult.  

OGIS’s analysis demonstrated that often the issue is not whether information is on a 
website, but rather the difficulty of locating and interpreting the information. Often 
information was located only by navigating through multiple clicks, searching through 
agency FOIA regulations, navigating external link FAQs, or delving into FOIA 
handbooks. 
 
FOIA sites tend to have a deep hierarchy, requiring users to navigate through several 
intermediary landing pages. A more user-friendly approach would be to organize the site 
collection from a user’s point of view and use a flat structure to direct users from the 
central homepage to the content pages (e.g., a flowchart model). Agencies tend to bury 
information under several layers of nested pages, which frequently make it difficult for a 
general user to find information. 
 
When agency websites require users to navigate through complex site collections to learn 
about FOIA instead of directly linking to specific information, they obscure potentially 
important information with additional layers of navigation. It puts an additional burden on 
requesters to find the information, even if they know it likely exists somewhere on a 
website and is worth locating. 
 
For example, the Department of State’s FOIA website does not describe or link to a 
description of the types of requests that would be considered overly burdensome by the 
agency or not sufficiently specific (column Y). Instead, a FOIA requester must click 
“Learn,” then “Freedom of Information Act,” then “Other Resources,” then “DOJ Guide 
to the Freedom of Information Act,”  and then select a left-hand menu link “DOJ Guide to 
the FOIA.” Once there, they would have to view the section “Searching for Responsive 
Records,” which discusses some examples of burdensome requests. 
 
When OGIS found that an agency was not fully successful in clearly explaining a key 
phrase or making information easy to find, the agency earned a response of “Other” for 
that data point. In those cases, OGIS noted why the finding did not fit into the “Yes” or 
“No” response category.   
 
For some agencies, many data points required explanations.  For example, below are the 
notes from OGIS’s findings for the Department of Labor’s Bureau of Labor Statistics’ 
FOIA website. The bolded letters refer to individual columns, followed by comments 
explaining answers in detail. For example, Column W, which asks “Does the FOIA 
website provide, in a prominent place, the average processing times for requests, 
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including for simple and complex requests?” demonstrated how nuanced answers could 
be:. 
 

● G: While there is no clearly defined Reading Room, many of the 
documents found in similar rooms like “FOIA Request Lists” [FOIA 
Logs] and “Annual FOIA Reports” are found in the sections “Frequently 
Requested Materials” and “Other FOIA Resources.”  

● I: No, although they encourage users to review available records on 
bls.gov before making a request. 

● L-N: Not directly. The web site links to the “DOL Guide for Requesting 
FOIA Records,” which discusses expedited processing under “VII. Can 
My FOIA Request Be Processed Faster?” Fees are discussed under “VIII. 
Are There Any Fees?” Waivers are explained under “IX. Can I Request a 
Fee Waiver?”  

● P: Not directly. The page links to the DOJ FOIA page under “Other FOIA 
Resources.” Once there, click the dropdown left hand sidebar menu for 
“Make a FOIA Request to DOJ” and select “DOJ Reference Guide.” 
Under “IV. How to Make a FOIA Request” it states “Similarly, if you 
request records relating to another person, and disclosure of the records 
could invade that person’s privacy, they ordinarily will not be disclosed to 
you.”  

● Q: Yes, although they use the DOL FOIA Regulations.  
● S: No, although they do have contact information for a BLS FOIA 

Coordinator.  
● T: No, although the previously mentioned DOJ FOIA Guide does explain 

the role of the FOIA Liaison.  
● U: Yes, but not directly. Under the left-hand menu column of the DOJ 

Reference Guide, click “DOJ Guide to FOIA,” which has a section with a 
definition for an agency record.  

● W: Sort of. The “DOL Guide for Requesting FOIA Records” section “VI. 
How Long Will It Take to Answer My FOIA Request?” gives time frame 
extensions for requests under certain circumstances that would be 
considered “complex,” but does not give definitions for “simple” and 
“complex” as such.  

● Y: Not directly. Within the previously mentioned U.S. Department of 
Justice Reference Guide is a left-hand menu link to “DOJ Guide to the 
FOIA.” Within it is a section “Searching for Responsive Records,” which 
discusses some examples of burdensome requests. 

● AB: Yes. At the bottom of the page under “About This Site” is a link 
“Important Website Notices,” which links to an Accessibility statement. 
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There were also certain criteria that many agencies were not fully successful in meeting. 
As shown below, 72 percent of agency websites did not have a clear “yes/no” answer for 
clearly defining a record (column U). In order for an agency to earn a clear “yes” the 
definition of a record should be readily available on the website where novice FOIA 
requesters are likely to encounter it for the first time.  
 
Definition of Agency Records 

 
Figure 7: “Does the FOIA website explain/link to an explanation of what constitutes an ‘agency record’?” 
 
As noted above, agencies generally were categorized as “other” because the information 
was technically present but hard to find, requiring effort to locate. For example, on many 
DoD websites, there is no direct link to a definition of an agency record. Instead, the 
information is found by following links to the DoD FOIA Handbook FAQ section “What 
is a Record?” For some agency FOIA websites, the definition of an agency record is 
buried within agency FOIA regulations. Many other websites link to the “DOJ Guide to 
the FOIA.” The DOJ FOIA Guide is a comprehensive legal treatise on FOIA, so the 
content is likely to appear dense and too legalistic for a requester who merely needs to 
know what an agency record is. 
 
 

https://www.justice.gov/oip/doj-guide-freedom-information-act-0
https://www.justice.gov/oip/doj-guide-freedom-information-act-0
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Recommendations 

Recommendation 1: Agencies should address the deficiencies in the information they 
include. 

Agencies should review OIP’s best practices and the OGIS evaluation criteria (see 
Appendix A) to ensure their websites contain the information a FOIA requester would 
need to file a request. Ideally, an agency website should contain and host all the 
information novice requesters would need to educate themselves on the filing and appeal 
processes.  
 
Furthermore, agencies should commit to reviewing their websites regularly for outdated 
information. In its review, OGIS found widespread outdated information ranging from 
broken links, links that direct to the incorrect page, outdated copies of the Code of Federal 
Regulations, outdated statements about the time frame for submitting an appeal (90 days 
under the FOIA Improvement Act of 2016), the latest FOIA logs in electronic reading 
rooms, and the most recent dates pages were modified. 

Recommendation 2: Agencies should redesign their websites in order to make 
finding information easier 

Agencies should continue to work towards a design that includes an appropriate amount 
of information on the FOIA home page, presented clearly and logically, with a flat 
navigational structure that maximizes a user’s ability to find information quickly. In 
addition to working with their agency’s web team, FOIA professionals can refer to the 
Federal Web Council for best practices on website design. A further implementation of 
best practices in design will help casual users to educate themselves about the FOIA 
process and may reduce the need for government FOIA professionals to work with 
requesters to perfect their requests.  

 
It is also critical that all agencies provide prominent, concise descriptions of their mission 
and program activities, and the records created and maintained as a result. This would 
provide requesters critical information regarding the types of records they could request in 
addition to the ones already available in electronic reading rooms. When accompanied 
with links to agency records schedules and instructions on how to use them, the public 
could identify more specific records to request under FOIA. 

  

https://www.justice.gov/oip/oip-guidance/OIP%20Guidance%3A%20%20Agency%20FOIA%20Websites%202.0
https://digital.gov/resources/federal-web-council/
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Conclusion 
Over the past 30 years, the internet has revolutionized the interaction between the public 
and the government with agencies able to disseminate information and procedures more 
efficiently than ever before. As part of this evolution, federal agencies’ use of the internet 
to educate and interact with the public about the FOIA process has allowed the public to 
increasingly exercise its right to access federal records under the FOIA. FOIA websites 
can significantly further the goal of transparency in government. However, to fully 
leverage the effectiveness of the internet, agencies must invest further planning and 
attention to the design of their websites and make conscious editorial and design decisions 
with the FOIA user in mind. The evaluation criteria from this report can serve as a 
roadmap for website designers. 
 
Many of the deficiencies noted in this assessment could be remedied by implementing 
recommendations made by the 2020-2022 term of the FOIA Advisory Committee. 
Specifically, in Recommendation 2022-07, the Committee lists 16 elements that agencies 
should include on their FOIA websites. Those include a link to a description of the 
records maintained by the agency as well as a description of records that do not exist at 
the agency; a link to agency records schedules; a FOIA request submission form; average 
processing times for requests, including for “simple” and “complex” requests; and 
descriptions of the types of requests that would likely be considered unduly burdensome 
and/or not reasonably described.   
 
 
Gregory Tavormina, an Archivist with the National Archives’ Accessioning, Basic 
Processing & Holdings Security Branch, conducted this review on temporary assignment 
to OGIS as part of a National Archives and Records Administration (NARA) Cross-
training Program. (He is now an Archivist with NARA’s Special Access and FOIA 
Program). 

  

https://www.archives.gov/files/ogis/assets/foiaac-final-report-and-recs-2022-07-05.pdf#page=16
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Appendix A 

Data Points12  
1. Does the agency have a FOIA Library/Reading Room where documents are 

available? (Column G)  
2. Date agency/comp. last updated, published, or modified FOIA Library/Reading 

Room (if the information is available) (Column H)  
3. Does the FOIA website describe or link to a description of records maintained by 

the agency? (Column I) 
4. Does the FOIA website instruct the public on how to make a request or link to 

such instructions (such as in a FOIA Reference Guide or Handbook)? (Column J)   
5. Does the FOIA website directly link to a FOIA request submission form (if 

requests can be made via a portal or online form)? (Column K) 
6. Does the FOIA website provide/link to requirements for seeking expedited 

processing? (Column L)  
7. Does the FOIA website provide/link to information about FOIA fee categories? 

(Column M)  
8. Does the FOIA website provide/link to requirements for seeking a FOIA fee 

waiver? (Column N) 
9. Does the FOIA webpage explain/link to an explanation of FOIA’s nine 

exemptions? (Column O)  
10. Does the FOIA website explain/link to an explanation that requesters will be less 

likely to receive information about someone else without their written consent? 
(Column P) 

11. Does the FOIA website link to the agency’s FOIA regulations? (Column Q) 
12. Does the FOIA website provide contact information for the FOIA Office(s)? 

(Column R)  
13. Does the FOIA website provide contact information for the “FOIA Public 

Liaison?” (Column S) 
14. Does the FOIA website explain the role of the agency/comp FOIA Public Liaison? 

(Column T) 
15. Does the FOIA website explain/link to an explanation of what constitutes an 

“agency record?” (Column U)  
16. If the agency uses multi-track processing, does the FOIA website clearly define 

“simple” and “complex” requests? (Column V)  
17. Does the FOIA website provide, in a prominent place, the average processing 

times for requests, including for “simple” and “complex” requests? (Column W)  
 

12 Columns A-F included contextual information such as the full name of the agency, the acronym, website 
URL, date OGIS reviewed. Columns A-D are included in Appendix B. 
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18. Does the FOIA website provide/link to instructions for obtaining the status of a 
request and how to request an estimated date of completion? (Column X) 

19. Does the FOIA website describe or link to a description of the types of requests 
that would be considered overly burdensome by the agency or not sufficiently 
specific? (Column Y)  

20. Does the FOIA website describe or link to a description of the administrative 
appeals process? (Column Z)  

21. Does the FOIA website inform requesters that they have 90 days to file an appeal? 
(Column AA) 

22. Do the FOIA website and FOIA Library/Reading Room include accessible contact 
information that individuals with disabilities can use if they encounter inaccessible 
documents? (Column  AB) 

23. Does the agency/comp. post agency FOIA logs to its FOIA website and/or FOIA 
Library/Reading Room? (Column AC)  

24. Enter the date of the most recent FOIA log posted to the agency’s FOIA website 
and/or FOIA Library/Reading Room (Column AD) 

25. Does the FOIA website describe or link to agency records schedules? (Column 
AE) 
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Appendix B  

List of Agencies surveyed (columns A-D) 
1 Department of Agriculture USDA https://www.dm.usda.gov/foia/ 

2 Department of Agriculture: 
Agricultural Marketing Service 

AMS https://www.ams.usda.gov/about-
ams/foia 

3 Department of Agriculture: Animal 
and Plant Health Inspection Service 

APHIS https://www.aphis.usda.gov/aphis/re
sources/foia 

4 Department of Agriculture: Farm 
Service Agency 

FSA https://www.fsa.usda.gov/news-
room/efoia/index 

5 Department of Agriculture: Food 
and Nutrition Service 

FNS https://www.fns.usda.gov/freedom-
information-act-foia 

6 Department of Agriculture: Food 
Safety and Inspection Service 

FSIS https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal
/footer/policies-and-link/freedom-of-
information-act 

7 Department of Agriculture: Foreign 
Agricultural Service 

FAS https://efoia-pal.usda.gov/ 

8 Department of Agriculture: Forest 
Service 

FS https://www.fs.usda.gov/about-
agency/foia 

9 Department of Agriculture: Natural 
Resources Conservation Service 

NRCS https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/porta
l/nrcs/detailfull/national/about/?cid=
NRCS143_021450 

10 Department of Agriculture: Office of 
the Inspector General 

USDA 
OIG 

https://www.usda.gov/oig/foia 

11 Department of Agriculture: Risk 
Management Agency 

RMA https://www.rma.usda.gov/en/Web-
Site-Policies-and-Important-
link/Freedom-of-Information-Act-
FOIA 

12 Department of Agriculture: Rural 
Development 

RD https://www.rd.usda.gov/contact-
us/freedom-information-act-foia 

13 Department of Defense DOD https://www.esd.whs.mil/FOID/ 

14 Department of Defense: Armed 
Services Board of Contract Appeals 

ASBC
A 

https://www.asbca.mil/FOIA/foia.htm
l 

15 Department of Defense: Defense 
Commissary Agency 

DeCA https://commissaries.com/our-
agency/FOIA 

16 Department of Defense: Defense 
Contract Audit Agency 

DCAA https://www.dcaa.mil/Freedom-of-
Information-Act/ 

https://www.dm.usda.gov/foia/
https://www.ams.usda.gov/about-ams/foia
https://www.ams.usda.gov/about-ams/foia
https://www.aphis.usda.gov/aphis/resources/foia
https://www.aphis.usda.gov/aphis/resources/foia
https://www.fsa.usda.gov/news-room/efoia/index
https://www.fsa.usda.gov/news-room/efoia/index
https://www.fns.usda.gov/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.fns.usda.gov/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/footer/policies-and-link/freedom-of-information-act
https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/footer/policies-and-link/freedom-of-information-act
https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/footer/policies-and-link/freedom-of-information-act
https://efoia-pal.usda.gov/
https://www.fs.usda.gov/about-agency/foia
https://www.fs.usda.gov/about-agency/foia
https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detailfull/national/about/?cid=NRCS143_021450
https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detailfull/national/about/?cid=NRCS143_021450
https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detailfull/national/about/?cid=NRCS143_021450
https://www.usda.gov/oig/foia
https://www.rma.usda.gov/en/Web-Site-Policies-and-Important-link/Freedom-of-Information-Act-FOIA
https://www.rma.usda.gov/en/Web-Site-Policies-and-Important-link/Freedom-of-Information-Act-FOIA
https://www.rma.usda.gov/en/Web-Site-Policies-and-Important-link/Freedom-of-Information-Act-FOIA
https://www.rma.usda.gov/en/Web-Site-Policies-and-Important-link/Freedom-of-Information-Act-FOIA
https://www.rd.usda.gov/contact-us/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.rd.usda.gov/contact-us/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.esd.whs.mil/FOID/
https://www.asbca.mil/FOIA/foia.html
https://www.asbca.mil/FOIA/foia.html
https://commissaries.com/our-agency/FOIA
https://commissaries.com/our-agency/FOIA
https://www.dcaa.mil/Freedom-of-Information-Act/
https://www.dcaa.mil/Freedom-of-Information-Act/
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17 Department of Defense: Defense 
Contract Management Agency 

DCMA https://www.dcma.mil/HQ/FOIA1/ 

18 Department of Defense: Defense 
Counterintelligence and Security 
Agency 

DCSA https://www.dcsa.mil/contact/foia/foi
a_privacy/ 

19 Department of Defense: Defense 
Finance and Accounting Service 

DFAS https://www.dfas.mil/foia/ 

20 Department of Defense: Defense 
Health Agency 

DHA https://health.mil/Military-Health-
Topics/Privacy-and-Civil-
Liberties/FOIA 

21 Department of Defense: Defense 
Information Systems Agency 

DISA https://www.disa.mil/About/Legal-
and-Regulatory/Freedom-of-Info-
Act-Program 

22 Department of Defense: Defense 
Intelligence Agency 

DIA https://www.dia.mil/FOIA.aspx 

23 Department of Defense: Defense 
Logistics Agency 

DLA https://www.dla.mil/HQ/GeneralCou
nsel/FOIA.aspx 

24 Department of Defense: Defense 
Technical Information Center 

DTIC https://discover.dtic.mil/foia/ 

25 Department of Defense: Defense 
Threat Reduction Agency 

DTRA https://www.dtra.mil/DTRA-
Mission/Reference-
Documents/FOIA/ 

26 Department of Defense: 
Department of Defense Education 
Activity 

DoDE
A 

https://www.dodea.edu/Offices/Exec
utiveServices/foia.cfm 

27 Department of Defense: 
Department of the Air Force 

AF https://www.foia.af.mil/ 

28 Department of Defense: 
Department of the Army 

ARMY https://www.rmda.army.mil/foia/RMD
A-FOIA-Division.html 

29 Department of Defense: 
Department of the Army Corps of 
Engineers 

USAC
E 

https://www.usace.army.mil/FOIA/ 

30 Department of Defense: 
Department of the Navy 

NAVY https://www.secnav.navy.mil/foia/Pa
ges/default.aspx 

31 Department of Defense: Joint 
Personnel Recovery Agency 

JPRA https://www.jpra.mil/links/FOIA/FOIA
.html 

32 Department of Defense: Marine 
Corps 

USMC https://www.hqmc.marines.mil/Agen
cies/USMC-FOIA/ 

https://www.dcma.mil/HQ/FOIA1/
https://www.dcsa.mil/contact/foia/foia_privacy/
https://www.dcsa.mil/contact/foia/foia_privacy/
https://www.dfas.mil/foia/
https://health.mil/Military-Health-Topics/Privacy-and-Civil-Liberties/FOIA
https://health.mil/Military-Health-Topics/Privacy-and-Civil-Liberties/FOIA
https://health.mil/Military-Health-Topics/Privacy-and-Civil-Liberties/FOIA
https://www.disa.mil/About/Legal-and-Regulatory/Freedom-of-Info-Act-Program
https://www.disa.mil/About/Legal-and-Regulatory/Freedom-of-Info-Act-Program
https://www.disa.mil/About/Legal-and-Regulatory/Freedom-of-Info-Act-Program
https://www.dia.mil/FOIA.aspx
https://www.dla.mil/HQ/GeneralCounsel/FOIA.aspx
https://www.dla.mil/HQ/GeneralCounsel/FOIA.aspx
https://discover.dtic.mil/foia/
https://www.dtra.mil/DTRA-Mission/Reference-Documents/FOIA/
https://www.dtra.mil/DTRA-Mission/Reference-Documents/FOIA/
https://www.dtra.mil/DTRA-Mission/Reference-Documents/FOIA/
https://www.dodea.edu/Offices/ExecutiveServices/foia.cfm
https://www.dodea.edu/Offices/ExecutiveServices/foia.cfm
https://www.foia.af.mil/
https://www.rmda.army.mil/foia/RMDA-FOIA-Division.html
https://www.rmda.army.mil/foia/RMDA-FOIA-Division.html
https://www.usace.army.mil/FOIA/
https://www.secnav.navy.mil/foia/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.secnav.navy.mil/foia/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.jpra.mil/links/FOIA/FOIA.html
https://www.jpra.mil/links/FOIA/FOIA.html
https://www.hqmc.marines.mil/Agencies/USMC-FOIA/
https://www.hqmc.marines.mil/Agencies/USMC-FOIA/
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33 Department of Defense: National 
Geospatial-Intelligence Agency 

NGA https://www.nga.mil/resources/1595
966558609_Freedom_of_Informatio
n_Act_(FOIA).html 

34 Department of Defense: National 
Guard Bureau 

NGB https://www.nationalguard.mil/Resou
rces/FOIA/ 

35 Department of Defense: National 
Reconnaissance Office 

NRO https://www.nro.gov/Freedom-of-
Information-Act-FOIA/ 

36 Department of Defense: National 
Security Agency 

NSA https://www.nsa.gov/Resources/Fre
edom-of-Information-Act/ 

37 Department of Defense: Office of 
the Inspector General 

DOD 
OIG 

https://www.dodig.mil/FOIA/ 

38 Department of Defense: U.S. Africa 
Command 

AFRIC
OM 

https://www.africom.mil/policies-
guidance/foia-freedom-of-
information-act-requests 

39 Department of Defense: U.S. 
Central Command 

CENT
COM 

https://www.centcom.mil/Home/FOI
A/ 

40 Department of Defense: U.S. Cyber 
Command 

CYBE
RCOM 

https://www.cybercom.mil/FOIA/ 

41 Department of Defense: U.S. 
European Command 

EUCO
M 

https://www.eucom.mil/policies-and-
compliance/freedom-of-information-
act-foia-requestor-ser 

42 Department of Defense: U.S. 
Northern Command 

NORT
HCOM 

https://www.northcom.mil/About-
USNORTHCOM/Freedom-of-
Information-Act/ 

43 Department of Defense: U.S. 
Pacific Command 

INDO-
PACO

M 

https://www.pacom.mil/Media/Freed
om-of-Information-Act/ 

44 Department of Defense: U.S. 
Southern Command 

SOUT
HCOM 

https://www.southcom.mil/FOIA/ 

45 Department of Defense: U.S. 
Special Operations Command 

SOCO
M 

https://www.socom.mil/foia 

46 Department of Defense: U.S. 
Strategic Command 

STRAT
COM 

https://www.stratcom.mil/Contact/Fr
eedom-of-Information-Act/ 

47 Department of Defense: U.S. 
Transportation Command 

TRAN
SCOM 

https://www.ustranscom.mil/foia/ 

48 Department of Health and Human 
Services 

HHS https://www.hhs.gov/foia/index.html 

https://www.nga.mil/resources/1595966558609_Freedom_of_Information_Act_(FOIA).html
https://www.nga.mil/resources/1595966558609_Freedom_of_Information_Act_(FOIA).html
https://www.nga.mil/resources/1595966558609_Freedom_of_Information_Act_(FOIA).html
https://www.nationalguard.mil/Resources/FOIA/
https://www.nationalguard.mil/Resources/FOIA/
https://www.nro.gov/Freedom-of-Information-Act-FOIA/
https://www.nro.gov/Freedom-of-Information-Act-FOIA/
https://www.nsa.gov/Resources/Freedom-of-Information-Act/
https://www.nsa.gov/Resources/Freedom-of-Information-Act/
https://www.dodig.mil/FOIA/
https://www.africom.mil/policies-guidance/foia-freedom-of-information-act-requests
https://www.africom.mil/policies-guidance/foia-freedom-of-information-act-requests
https://www.africom.mil/policies-guidance/foia-freedom-of-information-act-requests
https://www.centcom.mil/Home/FOIA/
https://www.centcom.mil/Home/FOIA/
https://www.cybercom.mil/FOIA/
https://www.eucom.mil/policies-and-compliance/freedom-of-information-act-foia-requestor-ser
https://www.eucom.mil/policies-and-compliance/freedom-of-information-act-foia-requestor-ser
https://www.eucom.mil/policies-and-compliance/freedom-of-information-act-foia-requestor-ser
https://www.northcom.mil/About-USNORTHCOM/Freedom-of-Information-Act/
https://www.northcom.mil/About-USNORTHCOM/Freedom-of-Information-Act/
https://www.northcom.mil/About-USNORTHCOM/Freedom-of-Information-Act/
https://www.pacom.mil/Media/Freedom-of-Information-Act/
https://www.pacom.mil/Media/Freedom-of-Information-Act/
https://www.southcom.mil/FOIA/
https://www.socom.mil/foia
https://www.stratcom.mil/Contact/Freedom-of-Information-Act/
https://www.stratcom.mil/Contact/Freedom-of-Information-Act/
https://www.ustranscom.mil/foia/
https://www.hhs.gov/foia/index.html
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49 Department of Health and Human 
Services: Administration for 
Children and Families 

ACF https://www.acf.hhs.gov/foia 

50 Department of Health and Human 
Services: Administration for 
Community Living 

ACL https://acl.gov/FOIA 

51 Department of Health and Human 
Services: Agency for Healthcare 
Research and Quality 

AHRQ https://www.ahrq.gov/policy/foia/inde
x.html 

52 Department of Health and Human 
Services: Centers for Disease 
Control and Prevention and Agency 
for Toxic Substances and Disease 
Registry 

CDC https://www.cdc.gov/od/foia/ 

53 Department of Health and Human 
Services: Centers for Medicare and 
Medicaid Services 

CMS https://www.cms.gov/Center/freedo
m-of-information-act-center.html 

54 Department of Health and Human 
Services: Food and Drug 
Administration 

FDA https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-
information/freedom-information 

55 Department of Health and Human 
Services: Health Resources and 
Services Administration 

HRSA https://www.hrsa.gov/foia/index.html 

56 Department of Health and Human 
Services: Indian Health Service 

IHS https://www.ihs.gov/FOIA/ 

57 Department of Health and Human 
Services: National Institutes of 
Health 

NIH https://www.nih.gov/institutes-
nih/nih-office-director/office-
communications-public-
liaison/freedom-information-act-
office 

58 Department of Health and Human 
Services: Office of the Inspector 
General 

HHS 
OIG 

https://oig.hhs.gov/foia/ 

59 Department of Health and Human 
Services: Public Health Service 

USPH
S 

https://usphs.gov/foia.aspx 

60 Department of Health and Human 
Services: Substance Abuse and 
Mental Health Services 
Administration 

SAMH
SA 

https://www.samhsa.gov/foia 

https://www.acf.hhs.gov/foia
https://acl.gov/FOIA
https://www.ahrq.gov/policy/foia/index.html
https://www.ahrq.gov/policy/foia/index.html
https://www.cdc.gov/od/foia/
https://www.cms.gov/Center/freedom-of-information-act-center.html
https://www.cms.gov/Center/freedom-of-information-act-center.html
https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/freedom-information
https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/freedom-information
https://www.hrsa.gov/foia/index.html
https://www.ihs.gov/FOIA/
https://www.nih.gov/institutes-nih/nih-office-director/office-communications-public-liaison/freedom-information-act-office
https://www.nih.gov/institutes-nih/nih-office-director/office-communications-public-liaison/freedom-information-act-office
https://www.nih.gov/institutes-nih/nih-office-director/office-communications-public-liaison/freedom-information-act-office
https://www.nih.gov/institutes-nih/nih-office-director/office-communications-public-liaison/freedom-information-act-office
https://www.nih.gov/institutes-nih/nih-office-director/office-communications-public-liaison/freedom-information-act-office
https://oig.hhs.gov/foia/
https://usphs.gov/foia.aspx
https://www.samhsa.gov/foia
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61 Department of Homeland Security DHS https://www.dhs.gov/freedom-
information-act-foia 

62 Department of Homeland Security: 
Federal Emergency Management 
Agency 

FEMA https://www.fema.gov/foia 

63 Department of Homeland Security: 
Federal Law Enforcement Training 
Centers 

FLETC https://www.fletc.gov/freedom-
information-act-foia 

64 Department of Homeland Security: 
Office of the Inspector General 

DHS 
OIG 

https://www.oig.dhs.gov/foia 

65 Department of Homeland Security: 
Secret Service 

USSS https://www.secretservice.gov/press/
foia/ 

66 Department of Homeland Security: 
Transportation Security 
Administration 

TSA https://www.tsa.gov/foia 

67 Department of Homeland Security: 
U.S. Citizenship and Immigration 
Service 

USCIS https://www.uscis.gov/about-
us/freedom-information-and-privacy-
act-foia 

68 Department of Homeland Security: 
U.S. Coast Guard 

USCG https://www.dcms.uscg.mil/Our-
Organization/Assistant-
Commandant-for-C4IT-CG-6/The-
Office-of-Information-Management-
CG-61/FOIA-Library/ 

69 Department of Homeland Security: 
U.S. Customs and Border 
Protection 

CBP https://www.cbp.gov/site-policy-
notices/foia 

70 Department of Homeland Security: 
U.S. Immigration and Customs 
Enforcement 

ICE https://www.ice.gov/management-
administration/foia 

71 Department of Housing and Urban 
Development 

HUD https://www.hud.gov/program_office
s/administration/foia 

72 Department of Housing and Urban 
Development: Office of the 
Inspector General 

HUD 
OIG 

https://www.hudoig.gov/foia 

73 Department of Justice DOJ https://www.justice.gov/oip 

74 Department of Justice: Antitrust 
Division 

Antitru
st 

https://www.justice.gov/atr/antitrust-
foia 

https://www.dhs.gov/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.dhs.gov/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.fema.gov/foia
https://www.fletc.gov/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.fletc.gov/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.oig.dhs.gov/foia
https://www.secretservice.gov/press/foia/
https://www.secretservice.gov/press/foia/
https://www.tsa.gov/foia
https://www.uscis.gov/about-us/freedom-information-and-privacy-act-foia
https://www.uscis.gov/about-us/freedom-information-and-privacy-act-foia
https://www.uscis.gov/about-us/freedom-information-and-privacy-act-foia
https://www.dcms.uscg.mil/Our-Organization/Assistant-Commandant-for-C4IT-CG-6/The-Office-of-Information-Management-CG-61/FOIA-Library/
https://www.dcms.uscg.mil/Our-Organization/Assistant-Commandant-for-C4IT-CG-6/The-Office-of-Information-Management-CG-61/FOIA-Library/
https://www.dcms.uscg.mil/Our-Organization/Assistant-Commandant-for-C4IT-CG-6/The-Office-of-Information-Management-CG-61/FOIA-Library/
https://www.dcms.uscg.mil/Our-Organization/Assistant-Commandant-for-C4IT-CG-6/The-Office-of-Information-Management-CG-61/FOIA-Library/
https://www.dcms.uscg.mil/Our-Organization/Assistant-Commandant-for-C4IT-CG-6/The-Office-of-Information-Management-CG-61/FOIA-Library/
https://www.cbp.gov/site-policy-notices/foia
https://www.cbp.gov/site-policy-notices/foia
https://www.ice.gov/management-administration/foia
https://www.ice.gov/management-administration/foia
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/administration/foia
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/administration/foia
https://www.hudoig.gov/foia
https://www.justice.gov/oip
https://www.justice.gov/atr/antitrust-foia
https://www.justice.gov/atr/antitrust-foia
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75 Department of Justice: Bureau of 
Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and 
Explosives 

ATF https://www.atf.gov/resource-
center/freedom-information-act-foia 

76 Department of Justice: Bureau of 
Prisons 

BOP https://www.bop.gov/foia/#tabs-0 

77 Department of Justice: Civil Division Civil https://www.justice.gov/civil/foia 

78 Department of Justice: Civil Rights 
Division 

Civil 
Rights 

https://www.justice.gov/crt/freedom-
information-act-0 

79 Department of Justice: Community 
Relations Service 

CRS https://www.justice.gov/crs/crs-
freedom-information-act-foia 

80 Department of Justice: Criminal 
Division 

Crimin
al 

https://www.justice.gov/criminal/crm-
freedom-information-act 

81 Department of Justice: Drug 
Enforcement Administration 

DEA https://www.dea.gov/freedom-
information-act 

82 Department of Justice: Environment 
and Natural Resources Division 

ENRD https://www.justice.gov/enrd/enrd-
foia 

83 Department of Justice: Executive 
Office for Immigration Review 

EOIR https://www.justice.gov/eoir/freedom
-information-act-foia 

84 Department of Justice: Executive 
Office for Organized Crime Drug 
Enforcement Task Forces 

OCDE
TF 

https://www.justice.gov/ocdetf/ocdetf
-foia 

85 Department of Justice: Executive 
Office for United States Attorneys 

EOUS
A 

https://www.justice.gov/usao/resourc
es 

86 Department of Justice: Executive 
Office for United States Trustees 

EOUS
T 

https://www.justice.gov/ust/foia-
privacy-act 

87 Department of Justice: Federal 
Bureau of Investigation 

FBI https://www.fbi.gov/services/informat
ion-management/foipa 

88 Department of Justice: Foreign 
Claims Settlement Commission 

FCSC https://www.justice.gov/fcsc/fcsc-
freedom-information-act 

89 Department of Justice: Justice 
Management Division 

JMD https://www.justice.gov/jmd/jmd-foia 

90 Department of Justice: National 
Security Division 

NSD https://www.justice.gov/nsd/nsd-
freedom-information-act 

91 Department of Justice: Office of 
Community Oriented Policing 
Services 

COPS https://cops.usdoj.gov/foia 

92 Department of Justice: Office of 
Justice Programs 

OJP https://www.ojp.gov/program/freedo
m-information-act/overview 

https://www.atf.gov/resource-center/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.atf.gov/resource-center/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.bop.gov/foia/#tabs-0
https://www.justice.gov/civil/foia
https://www.justice.gov/crt/freedom-information-act-0
https://www.justice.gov/crt/freedom-information-act-0
https://www.justice.gov/crs/crs-freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.justice.gov/crs/crs-freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.justice.gov/criminal/crm-freedom-information-act
https://www.justice.gov/criminal/crm-freedom-information-act
https://www.dea.gov/freedom-information-act
https://www.dea.gov/freedom-information-act
https://www.justice.gov/enrd/enrd-foia
https://www.justice.gov/enrd/enrd-foia
https://www.justice.gov/eoir/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.justice.gov/eoir/freedom-information-act-foia
https://www.justice.gov/ocdetf/ocdetf-foia
https://www.justice.gov/ocdetf/ocdetf-foia
https://www.justice.gov/usao/resources
https://www.justice.gov/usao/resources
https://www.justice.gov/ust/foia-privacy-act
https://www.justice.gov/ust/foia-privacy-act
https://www.fbi.gov/services/information-management/foipa
https://www.fbi.gov/services/information-management/foipa
https://www.justice.gov/fcsc/fcsc-freedom-information-act
https://www.justice.gov/fcsc/fcsc-freedom-information-act
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https://www.justice.gov/nsd/nsd-freedom-information-act
https://www.justice.gov/nsd/nsd-freedom-information-act
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https://www.ojp.gov/program/freedom-information-act/overview
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93 Department of Justice: Office of 
Legal Counsel 

OLC https://www.justice.gov/olc/olc-foia 

94 Department of Justice: Office of 
Professional Responsibility 

OPR https://www.justice.gov/opr/opr-foia 

95 Department of Justice: Office of the 
Inspector General 

DOJ 
OIG 

https://oig.justice.gov/foia 

96 Department of Justice: Office of the 
Pardon Attorney 

PARD
ON 

https://www.justice.gov/pardon/pard
on-attorney-foia 

97 Department of Justice: Office of the 
Solicitor General 

OSG https://www.justice.gov/osg/osg-
freedom-information-act 

98 Department of Justice: Office on 
Violence Against Women 

OVW https://www.justice.gov/ovw/ovw-
freedom-information-act 

99 Department of Justice: Professional 
Responsibility Advisory Office 

PRAO https://www.justice.gov/prao/prao-
foia 

100 Department of Justice: Tax Division TAX https://www.justice.gov/tax/foia 

101 Department of Justice: United 
States Marshals Service 

USMS https://www.usmarshals.gov/foia/ind
ex.html 

102 Department of Justice: United 
States National Central Bureau 
INTERPOL 

USNC
B 

https://www.justice.gov/interpol-
washington/interpol-washington-foia 

103 Department of Justice: United 
States Parole Commission 

USPC https://www.justice.gov/uspc/freedo
m-information-act-foia 

104 Department of Labor: Bureau of 
Labor Statistics 

BLS https://www.bls.gov/bls/blsfoia.htm 

105 Department of Labor: Employment 
and Training Administration 

ETA https://www.dol.gov/agencies/eta/co
ntact/foia 

106 Department of Labor: Mine Safety 
and Health Administration 

MSHA https://www.msha.gov/msha-foia-
resources 

107 Department of Labor: Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration 

OSHA https://www.osha.gov/foia 

108 Department of Labor: Office of 
Administrative Law Judges 

ALJ https://www.oalj.dol.gov/LIBFOIA.HT
M 

109 Department of Labor: Office of Asst. 
Secretary for Administration and 
Management 

OASA
M 

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/oasam
/foia 

110 Department of Labor: Office of 
Federal Contract Compliance 
Programs 

OFCC
P 

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ofccp/f
oia 

https://www.justice.gov/olc/olc-foia
https://www.justice.gov/opr/opr-foia
https://oig.justice.gov/foia
https://www.justice.gov/pardon/pardon-attorney-foia
https://www.justice.gov/pardon/pardon-attorney-foia
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https://www.justice.gov/osg/osg-freedom-information-act
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https://www.usmarshals.gov/foia/index.html
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111 Department of Labor: Office of 
Inspector General 

OIG https://www.oig.dol.gov/foia.htm 

112 Department of Labor: Office of 
Labor Management Standards 

OLMS https://www.dol.gov/agencies/olms/f
oia 

113 Department of Labor: Office of the 
Solicitor 

DOL 
SOL 

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/sol/foi
a 

114 Department of Labor: Office of 
Workers' Compensation Programs 

OWCP https://www.dol.gov/owcp/foia/owcp-
foia.htm 

115 Department of Labor: Veterans' 
Employment and Training Service 

VETS https://www.dol.gov/agencies/vets/a
bout/foia 

116 Department of Labor: Wage and 
Hour Division 

WHD https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/fo
ia 

117 Department of State STATE https://foia.state.gov/ 

118 Department of State: Office of 
Inspector General 

STATE 
OIG 

https://www.stateoig.gov/foia 

119 Department of the Interior DOI https://www.doi.gov/foia 

120 Department of the Interior: Bureau 
of Indian Affairs 

BIA https://www.bia.gov/as-ia/foia 

121 Department of the Interior: Bureau 
of Land Management 

BLM https://www.blm.gov/about/foia 

122 Department of the Interior: Bureau 
of Ocean Energy Management 

BOEM https://www.boem.gov/about-
boem/freedom-information-act-foia 

123 Department of the Interior: Bureau 
of Reclamation 

BOR https://www.usbr.gov/foia/ 

124 Department of the Interior: Bureau 
of Safety and Environmental 
Enforcement 

BSEE https://www.bsee.gov/newsroom/libr
ary/foia 

125 Department of the Interior: Fish and 
Wildlife Service 

FWS https://www.fws.gov/irm/bpim/foia.ht
ml 

126 Department of the Interior: National 
Park Service 

NPS https://www.nps.gov/aboutus/foia/ind
ex.htm 

127 Department of the Interior: Office of 
Inspector General 

DOI 
OIG 

https://www.doioig.gov/complaints/F
OIA 

128 Department of the Interior: Office of 
Surface Mining Reclamation and 
Enforcement 

OSMR
E 

https://www.osmre.gov/lrg/foia.shtm 

129 Department of the Interior: U.S. 
Geological Survey 

USGS https://www.usgs.gov/about/organiz
ation/science-support/foia 

https://www.oig.dol.gov/foia.htm
https://www.dol.gov/agencies/olms/foia
https://www.dol.gov/agencies/olms/foia
https://www.dol.gov/agencies/sol/foia
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https://www.stateoig.gov/foia
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https://www.doioig.gov/complaints/FOIA
https://www.osmre.gov/lrg/foia.shtm
https://www.usgs.gov/about/organization/science-support/foia
https://www.usgs.gov/about/organization/science-support/foia
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130 Department of the Treasury Treasu
ry 

https://home.treasury.gov/footer/free
dom-of-information-act 

131 Department of the Treasury: Office 
of the Comptroller of the Currency 

OCC https://www.occ.treas.gov/about/con
nect-with-us/foia/index-foia.html 

132 Department of the Treasury: 
Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and 
Trade Bureau 

TTB https://www.ttb.gov/foia 

133 Department of the Treasury: Bureau 
of Engraving and Printing 

BEP https://www.moneyfactory.gov/foia.h
tml 

134 Department of the Treasury: Bureau 
of the Fiscal Service 

Fiscal 
Servic

e 

https://www.fiscal.treasury.gov/foia.h
tml 

135 Department of the Treasury: 
Financial Crimes Enforcement 
Network 

FinCE
N 

https://www.fincen.gov/freedom-
information-act-foia-and-guide-
accessing-fincen-information 

136 Department of the Treasury: 
Inspector General for Tax 
Administration 

TIGTA https://www.treasury.gov/tigta/import
ant_foia.shtml 

137 Department of the Treasury: 
Internal Revenue Service 

IRS https://www.irs.gov/privacy-
disclosure/irs-freedom-of-information 

138 Department of the Treasury: U.S. 
Mint 

MINT https://www.usmint.gov/foia 

139 Department of Transportation DOT https://www.transportation.gov/foia 

140 Department of Transportation: 
Federal Aviation Administration 

FAA https://www.faa.gov/foia/ 

141 Department of Transportation: 
Federal Highway Administration 

FHWA https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/foia/ 

142 Department of Transportation: 
Federal Motor Carrier Safety 
Administration 

FMCS
A 

https://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/foia 

143 Department of Transportation: 
Federal Railroad Administration 

FRA https://railroads.dot.gov/freedom-
information-act-foia 

144 Department of Transportation: 
Federal Transit Administration 

FTA https://www.transit.dot.gov/foia/foia-
requests 

145 Department of Transportation: 
Maritime Administration 

MARA
D 

https://maritime.dot.gov/about-
us/foia/freedom-information-act-
contacts 

https://home.treasury.gov/footer/freedom-of-information-act
https://home.treasury.gov/footer/freedom-of-information-act
https://www.occ.treas.gov/about/connect-with-us/foia/index-foia.html
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https://www.treasury.gov/tigta/important_foia.shtml
https://www.treasury.gov/tigta/important_foia.shtml
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146 Department of Transportation: 
National Highway Traffic Safety 
Administration 

NHTS
A 

https://www.nhtsa.gov/foia 

147 Department of Transportation: 
Office of Inspector General 

DOT 
OIG 

https://www.oig.dot.gov/FOIA 

148 Department of Transportation: 
Pipeline and Hazardous Material 
Safety Administration 

PHMS
A 

https://www.phmsa.dot.gov/foia 

149 Department of Transportation: Saint 
Lawrence Seaway Development 
Corporation 

SLSD
C 

https://www.seaway.dot.gov/about/fo
ia 

150 Department of Veterans Affairs VA https://www.va.gov/foia/ 

151 Department of Veterans Affairs: 
Office of Acquisition and Logistics 

OAL https://www.va.gov/oalc/foia/index.a
sp 

152 Department of Veterans Affairs: 
Office of Inspector General 

IG https://www.va.gov/oig/foia/default.a
sp 

153 Environmental Protection Agency EPA https://www.epa.gov/foia 

154 Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission 

EEOC https://www.eeoc.gov/foia 

155 National Archives and Records 
Administration 

NARA https://www.archives.gov/foia 

156 Office of Personnel Management OPM https://www.opm.gov/information-
management/freedom-of-
information-act/ 

157 Securities and Exchange 
Commission 

SEC https://www.sec.gov/page/office-
foia-services 

158 Social Security Administration SSA https://www.ssa.gov/foia/ 

 

https://www.nhtsa.gov/foia
https://www.oig.dot.gov/FOIA
https://www.phmsa.dot.gov/foia
https://www.seaway.dot.gov/about/foia
https://www.seaway.dot.gov/about/foia
https://www.va.gov/foia/
https://www.va.gov/oalc/foia/index.asp
https://www.va.gov/oalc/foia/index.asp
https://www.va.gov/oig/foia/default.asp
https://www.va.gov/oig/foia/default.asp
https://www.epa.gov/foia
https://www.eeoc.gov/foia
https://www.archives.gov/foia
https://www.opm.gov/information-management/freedom-of-information-act/
https://www.opm.gov/information-management/freedom-of-information-act/
https://www.opm.gov/information-management/freedom-of-information-act/
https://www.sec.gov/page/office-foia-services
https://www.sec.gov/page/office-foia-services
https://www.ssa.gov/foia/

	Executive Summary
	Background
	Methodology
	Findings
	Finding 1: Almost all agency FOIA websites OGIS reviewed had deficiencies in the information they include.
	Finding 2: There are some data points that almost all agencies include; however a slim minority of agency websites have deficiencies.
	How to make a FOIA Request
	FOIA Reading Room
	Contact Information
	Accessibility Statement
	Other Exemplary Practices
	Finding 3: Agencies generally include ample information on their websites but finding it can be difficult.

	Recommendations
	Recommendation 1: Agencies should address the deficiencies in the information they include.
	Recommendation 2: Agencies should redesign their websites in order to make finding information easier

	Conclusion
	Appendix A
	Data Points11F

	Appendix B
	List of Agencies surveyed (columns A-D)


